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introduction
We have before us a Petition to Revoke License (Petition) filed by Saga Communications of New England, LLC (Saga) and opposed by Lighthouse Christian Center (Lighthouse).  The Petition urges us to revoke Lighthouse’s license to operate low power FM (LPFM) station WLCQ-LP, Feeding Hills, Massachusetts (Station).  Also before us are an application to make minor changes to the licensed facilities of the Station (2015 Permit Application) and a request for special temporary authority (STA) to operate at a variance from the Station’s license (STA Request).  Both the Application and the STA Request were filed by Lighthouse in response to the Petition and are opposed by Saga.  For the reasons set forth herein, we grant in part, dismiss in part and otherwise deny the Petition, deny Saga’s Informal Objection to the 2015 Permit Application and its Opposition to the STA Request, adopt the attached Consent Decree, and grant the STA Request. 
Background  
Lighthouse filed an application for the Station’s original construction permit (2001 Permit Application) during the first LPFM filing window in 2001.  The Commission granted this application in 2005.  Lighthouse proceeded to construct the Station and file an application for license to cover the Station’s facilities (License Application),[footnoteRef:2] which we granted in November 2006.[footnoteRef:3]   [2:  File No. BLL-20061106AAA.]  [3:  Broadcast Actions, Public Notice, Report No. 46369 (MB Nov. 27, 2006).] 

Nearly nine years later, Saga filed the Petition, which urges us to revoke the Station’s license.   Saga alleges that the Station interferes with the signal of one of its stations, is not operating from the location or with the antenna specified in its license, and has violated the law and rules governing underwriting announcements.  In addition, Saga asserts that Lighthouse failed to comply with the Commission’s environmental and historic preservation review requirements and falsely certified that the facilities specified in the 2001 Permit Application were excluded from such review.  Saga further contends that Lighthouse falsely certified, in the License Application, that the Station’s facilities were constructed as authorized in the Station’s construction permit.   
Lighthouse responded to the Petition, filing the 2015 Permit Application and the STA Request along with an Opposition to Petition to Revoke (Opposition).  Saga replied to the Opposition.  It also filed an Informal Objection to the 2015 Permit Application and an Opposition to Request for Special Temporary Authority.  In these subsequent pleadings, Saga references the Petition and again makes environmental processing and false certification allegations.  Saga also asserts that, in the STA Request, Lighthouse should have specified both the antenna being used and the proposed transmitter power output (TPO) but failed to include that information.  Lighthouse has responded to these pleadings with additional pleadings of its own.[footnoteRef:4]  We consider all of these pleadings and matters below. [4:  Specifically, Lighthouse filed a Reply to Opposition to STA Request and an Opposition to Informal Objection.  Saga filed a Reply to Opposition to Informal Objection, to which Lighthouse responded with a Statement for the Record.] 

Discussion   
For the reasons set forth below, we reject Saga’s interference allegations as unsupported.  We also find no merit to Saga’s claims that Lighthouse failed to comply with the Commission’s environmental and historic preservation review requirements or its allegations that Lighthouse made false certifications regarding its compliance with these requirements.  We do find that the Station is not operating from the location or with the antenna specified in its license, and has violated the law and rules governing underwriting announcements.  Lighthouse itself admits the former and acknowledges at least some violations of the latter.  We adopt a Consent Decree that addresses these violations.
Interference  
Saga asserts that the Station interferes with the signal of its station, WLZX(FM), Northampton, Massachusetts, which operates on a second-adjacent channel from the Station.[footnoteRef:5]  Saga, however, does not submit any evidence in support of its interference claim.[footnoteRef:6]  Indeed, Saga itself admits that the Station satisfies the second-adjacent channel spacing requirements set forth in Section 73.807 of the Commission’s rules with respect to WLZX(FM).[footnoteRef:7]  In any event, Saga acknowledges that “under the interference protection to full service FM stations provisions of § 73.809, WLZX(FM) has no recourse against this interference ….”[footnoteRef:8]  For these reasons, we deny those portions of the Petition related to Saga’s interference claims and do not consider those claims further. [5:  Petition at 2-3.]  [6:  For instance, Saga claims that “personnel have been receiving reports from listeners of WLZX … that they are receiving interference to reception of that station due to the presence of WLCQ-LP …,” Petition at 2, but does not include any actual listener complaints of interference.  ]  [7:  Petition, Attach. B at 2 (“WLCQ-LP remains fully spaced under § 73.807(a)(1) toward WLZX(FM) ….”).]  [8:  Id.] 

Environmental and Historic Preservation Review  
The Commission has established rules and processes that implement the requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act, as well as a series of other federal laws related to the environment.  As part of this, the Commission has identified those facilities that ordinarily may have a significant impact on the environment and that require preparation of environmental assessments (EAs).[footnoteRef:9]  Conversely, it has categorically exempted from environmental review those facilities that will not have a significant environmental impact and comply with the Commission’s radiofrequency exposure limits.[footnoteRef:10]  In addition, the Commission has incorporated into its environmental rules and processes the requirements of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended (NHPA).[footnoteRef:11]  Thus, regardless of whether the Commission has found that a facility is categorically excluded from environmental review, an applicant may still need to submit an EA if the facility may adversely affect properties listed or eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.[footnoteRef:12] [9:  47 CFR 1.1307.]  [10:  47 CFR 1.1306.]  [11:  47 CFR 1.1307(a)(4).]  [12:  47 CFR 1.1306 Note 1.  Acceleration of Broadband Deployment by Improving Wireless Facilities Siting Policies, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 28 FCC Rcd 14238, 14260 para. 58 (2013) (explaining that “Note 1 to Section 1.1306, which provides a categorical exclusion for collocations on an existing building or antenna tower for most purposes under NEPA, does not extend to review under Section 106” of the NHPA); Amendment of the Commission’s Rules with Regard to Commercial Operations in the 3550-3650 MHz Band, Notice of Proposed Rulemaking and Order, 27 FCC Rcd 15594, 15639 para. 140 (2012) (“Antennas mounted on an existing building or antenna tower are generally excluded from review for environmental effects other than RF exposure or, in some instances, effects on historic properties.”).] 

2001 Permit Application.  In the 2001 Permit Application, Lighthouse certified that the Station’s proposed facilities were excluded from environmental processing.  In its Petition, Saga asserts that the facilities proposed in that application should have undergone both environmental and historic preservation review.[footnoteRef:13]  Saga essentially seeks reconsideration of our grant of the 2001 Permit Application.  The time period for filing petitions for reconsideration is prescribed by statute and expired in 2005.[footnoteRef:14]  As a result, we may not, with one extremely narrow exception not applicable here, waive or extend the filing period.[footnoteRef:15]  Accordingly, we find this indirect challenge to our grant of the 2001 Permit Application constitutes an impermissible collateral attack and is properly denied.[footnoteRef:16]     [13:  Petition at 4-6.  We note that, for purposes of this argument, Saga treats the 2001 Permit Application as proposing to install the Station’s tower and antenna on Lighthouse’s church building.  Petition at 5 (discussing “the 19th century church building” and noting the building “on which the roof-mounted tower/antenna remains mounted was constructed in 1900”).  As discussed later in this decision, the 2001 Permit Application actually included the wrong coordinates, specifying a site 364 feet from the church.  Given that Lighthouse has stated it always intended to locate the Station’s tower and antenna on the church building, Opposition to Petition to Revoke at 2-3 and Attach. A, for the purposes of our consideration of the environmental and historic preservation review issues raised by Saga, we treat the location of the Station’s tower and antenna as being on top of the church building.  ]  [14:  47 U.S.C. § 405(a) (“A petition for reconsideration must be filed within thirty days from the date upon which public notice is given of the order, decision, report or action complained of.”); Citylight Ministry Center, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 20 FCC Rcd 10179 (2005). ]  [15:  See Reuters Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 95 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“[W]e conclude that the Commission acted beyond its lawful authority when it entertained the belated petition for reconsideration.”).  See also Metromedia Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 56 FCC 2d 909, 909-10 para. 2 (1975) (Commission may not waive 30-day filing period to accept a petition for reconsideration filed one day late); Fortuna Systems Corp., Order on Reconsideration, 3 FCC Rcd 5122, 5123 para. 9 (CCB 1988).  Specifically, the courts have held that the Commission may not accept untimely reconsideration petitions in the absence of extremely unusual circumstances.  See, e.g., Virgin Islands Tel. Corp. v. FCC, 989 F.2d 1231, 1237 (D.C. Cir. 1993).]  [16:  See, e.g., MCI Telecommunications Corp. v. Pacific Northwest Bell Telephone Co., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 5 FCC Rcd 216, 228 n.38 (1990), recon. denied, 5 FCC Rcd 3463 (1990), appeal dismissed sub nom. Mountain States Tel. and Tel. Co. v. FCC, 951 F.2d 1259 (10th Cir. 1991) (per curiam).] 

2015 Permit Application.  When Lighthouse filed the 2015 Permit Application, it acknowledged the need to complete historic preservation review of the Station’s proposed facilities and indicated it had retained a consultant to complete an “NPA study.”[footnoteRef:17]  Lighthouse subsequently amended the Application to include this study, which concludes that the proposed facilities will not affect properties within the scope of Section 1.1307(a)(4).[footnoteRef:18]   The Massachusetts Historical Commission has concurred in this finding.[footnoteRef:19]  Despite this, Saga argues that Lighthouse must prepare and submit an EA that addresses both historic preservation concerns and the threatened species and migratory birds that are present in the Station’s community of license.[footnoteRef:20]  We address and reject Saga’s arguments below, concluding that no EA is required for the facilities proposed in the 2015 Permit Application. [17:  Opposition to Petition to Revoke at 4.]  [18:  File No. BPL-20151102AHI, Attach. 14 (DEA Report).  Saga criticized the DEA Report, pointing out that Lighthouse and/or DEA had stated that the proposed facilities had not yet been constructed in communications with certain Native American Tribes, one municipality, one historical association, and the Massachusetts Historical Commission.  Reply to Opposition to Informal Objection at 3-4.  In response, Lighthouse submitted a revised version of the report.  Statement for the Record, Attach. A.  The revised report documents additional communications with these parties.  These communications did not affect the conclusion DEA reached in the study.]  [19:  DEA Report, Appx. 1.  DEA submitted a follow up letter to the Massachusetts Historical Commission clarifying that the antenna at issue was an existing antenna, not a proposed installation. At the time DEA prepared its revised study, the Massachusetts Historical Commission had not notified DEA (or Lighthouse) of any changes to its initial concurrence in DEA’s finding.]  [20:  Petition at 6; Informal Objection at 2-3.  ] 

To reach its conclusion that an EA is required to address historic preservation concerns,[footnoteRef:21] Saga cites Part V of the Nationwide Programmatic Agreement for the Collocation of Wireless Antennas (Collocation Agreement).[footnoteRef:22]  Not only does Saga focus on the wrong part of the Collocation Agreement but it misunderstands the agreement’s requirements.[footnoteRef:23]  Part IV, not Part V, of the agreement applies.  Part IV generally exempts the “mounting or installation of an antenna” on a tower constructed after March 16, 2001, from historic preservation review but requires such review if an applicant proposes to install its antenna on a “twilight tower.”  A “twilight tower” is a tower constructed after March 16, 2001, that did not undergo historic preservation review prior to construction.[footnoteRef:24]  Part V, in contrast, applies to the mounting of an antenna on a building or non-tower structure.  Here, the antenna is mounted on a tower as that term is defined in the Collocation Agreement.[footnoteRef:25]  Thus, Part V does not apply.[footnoteRef:26]   [21:  Petition at 5; Informal Objection at 2.  ]  [22:  47 CFR pt. 1, App. B (Collocation Agreement).  See also Wireless Telecommunications Bureau Announces Execution of Programmatic Agreement with Respect to Collocating Wireless Antennas on Existing Structures, Public Notice, 16 FCC Rcd 5574 (WTB 2001).  Saga also relies on the Collocation Agreement in its Opposition to STA Request.  Opposition to STA Request, Attach. at 3.  ]  [23:  Lighthouse itself also misreads the Collocation Agreement.  It asserts that the agreement did not and does not apply to its construction of the tower on which the Station’s previous antenna was—and its current antenna is—mounted.  Opposition to Petition to Revoke at 3.  According to Lighthouse, the Collocation Agreement applies to “co-location of wireless antennas, not broadcast facilities.”  Id.  Lighthouse is incorrect.  The Collocation Agreement “applies to wireless and broadcast facilities and is intended to streamline procedures for review of collocations of wireless and broadcast antennas and associated equipment … on existing towers and other structures under the National Historic Preservation Act.”  Fact Sheet Regarding the Implementation of the Nationwide Programmatic Agreement with Respect to Collocating Wireless and Broadcast Facilities on Existing Towers and Structures, 67 Fed. Reg. 5282 (Feb. 5, 2002) (Fact Sheet).]  [24:  Collocation Agreement, Part IV.A.1.  See also Nationwide Programmatic Agreement for Review of Effects on Historic Properties for Certain Undertakings Approved by the Federal Communications Commission, 47 CFR Part 1, App. C. at Part I.A (NPA).  ]  [25:  The Collocation Agreement defines a tower as “any structure built for the sole or primary purpose of supporting antennas and their associated facilities used to provide FCC-licensed service.”  Collocation Agreement, Part I.A.]  [26:  The fact that the tower is built on top of a building does not change that fact.] 

Because the Station’s tower was constructed after March 16, 2001, but did not undergo historic preservation review prior to construction, under Part IV of the Collocation Agreement, Lighthouse must complete the historic preservation review process before we can grant the Application.[footnoteRef:27]  To do so, it must follow the procedures set forth in the Nationwide Programmatic Agreement for Review of Effects on Historic Properties for Certain Undertakings Approved by the Federal Communications Commission (NPA).[footnoteRef:28]  Contrary to Saga’s assertion, though, this does not necessarily involve preparation of an EA.  That is required only if the proposed facility may have an adverse effect on a historic property.[footnoteRef:29]  If the facility will have “no effect” or “no adverse effect” on any historic properties, no EA is required.[footnoteRef:30]  As noted, Lighthouse hired a consultant to undertake a historic preservation review of both the existing tower and the new antenna specified in the Application.[footnoteRef:31]  The consultant recommended a finding of “no effect on historic property” and the Massachusetts Historical Commission concurred, stating “it has been determined that this project is unlikely to affect significant historic or archaeological resources.”[footnoteRef:32]  Accordingly, Lighthouse need not file an EA as part of the historic preservation review process.  [27:  Saga asserts that its Petition constitutes a complaint that triggers historic preservation review under Part V.A.4. of the Collocation Agreement.  As explained in the text, Part V of the Collocation Agreement is not applicable to the facilities proposed in the 2015 Permit Application.  A similar provision, though, is set forth at Part IV.A.4.  Because we find historic preservation review is required under Part IV.A.1., we do not herein determine whether Saga’s Petition constitutes a complaint under this provision.   ]  [28:  See NPA, Part I.C. (stating that NPA “does not apply to Antenna Collocations that are exempt from Section 106 review under the Collocation Agreement” but does “apply to collocations that are not exempt from Section 106 review under the Collocation Agreement”).]  [29:  Fact Sheet, 67 Fed. Reg. at 5283. ]  [30:  Id. at 5283 n.4.  ]  [31:  Opposition to Informal Objection, Attach. A at 1.2 (stating that Lighthouse “has installed a Low Power FM (LPFM) broadcast antenna and support pole on an existing church building rooftop”).]  [32:  Opposition to Informal Objection, Attach. A at 13.] 

Likewise, no EA is required despite the presence of two threatened species and seventeen migratory birds in the Station’s community of license.  The Commission generally excludes antennas mounted on existing buildings or antenna towers from environmental review “even if an environmentally sensitive circumstance identified in Section 1.1307(a) is present.”[footnoteRef:33]  While the facilities here involve both a tower which is attached to an existing building and an antenna mounted on that tower, we find they are excluded from environmental review under Note 1 to Section 1.1306 of the Rules.  This view is consistent with the Commission’s statement that “the mounting of antennas on existing buildings or antenna towers generally is environmentally preferable to the construction of a new facility, a preference which is reflected in [Note 1 to Section 1.1306 of the Rules].”[footnoteRef:34]   [33:  Acceleration of Broadband Deployment by Improving Wireless Facilities Siting Policies, Report and Order, 29 FCC Rcd 12865, 12883 para. 38 (2014) (Wireless Infrastructure Report and Order).]  [34:  Amendment of the Commission’s Environmental Rules, Order, 3 FCC Rcd 4986, 4986 para. 7 (1988).  See also, Wireless Infrastructure Report and Order, 29 FCC Rcd at 12883 para. 38 (“Note 1 reflects a preference first articulated by the Commission in 1974, and codified into Note 1 in 1986, that ‘[t]he use of existing buildings, towers or corridors is an environmentally desirable alternative to the construction of new facilities and is encouraged.’”).] 

STA Request.  Saga argues that Lighthouse falsely certified in the STA Request that the proposed facilities are excluded from environmental and historic preservation review.[footnoteRef:35]  According to Saga, if Lighthouse indicated that the proposed facilities were not excluded in the 2015 Permit Application, it should have reached the same conclusion with respect to the STA Request.[footnoteRef:36]  Saga, however, ignores a key difference between the facilities proposed in the STA Request and those proposed in the 2015 Permit Application.  While the facilities proposed in both are technically identical, the facilities proposed in the STA Request are temporary in nature and those proposed in the 2015 Permit Application are permanent.  Lighthouse correctly certified that the facilities proposed in the STA Request are excluded from environmental and historic preservation review.  As discussed, these facilities—whether temporary or permanent in nature—are excluded from environmental processing pursuant to Note 1 of Section 1.1306.  Further, the NPA specifically excludes the temporary facilities proposed in the STA Request from historic preservation review.[footnoteRef:37] [35:  Opposition to STA Request at 2-3.  ]  [36:  Id.  ]  [37:  NPA, Part III.C.1 (excluding “[a] Tower or Antenna authorized by the Commission for a temporary period, such as any Facility authorized by a Commission grant of Special Temporary Authority”).  The NPA defines “temporary” as “for no more than twenty-four months duration.”  NPA, Part III.C.] 

Misrepresentations 
A misrepresentation is a false statement of fact[footnoteRef:38] or false certification[footnoteRef:39] made with intent to deceive the Commission.  Intent to deceive is established if a licensee or applicant knowingly makes a false statement (or false certification)[footnoteRef:40] and can also be inferred when the surrounding circumstances clearly show the existence of intent to deceive.[footnoteRef:41]  The Commission may disqualify an applicant who deliberately makes misrepresentations.[footnoteRef:42]  In addition, Section 1.17(a)(2) of the Rules provides that no person may provide, in any written statement of fact, “material factual information that is incorrect or omit material information that is necessary to prevent any material factual statement that is made from being incorrect or misleading without a reasonable basis for believing that any such material factual statement is correct and not misleading.”[footnoteRef:43]  Thus, even absent an intent to deceive, a false statement of fact or false certification may constitute an actionable violation of Section 1.17 of the Rules if it is provided without a reasonable basis for believing that the statement or certification is correct and not misleading.[footnoteRef:44] [38:  Fox River Broadcasting, Inc., Order, 93 F.C.C.2d 127, 129 (1983). ]  [39:  San Francisco Unified School District, Hearing Designation Order and Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, 19 FCC Rcd 13326, 13334 nn.40-41 (2004) (subsequent history omitted).]  [40:  Leflore Broadcasting, Co., Inc. v. FCC, 636 F.2d 454, 462 (D.C. Cir. 1980).]  [41:  See American International Development, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order, 86 FCC 2d 808, 816 n.39 (1981), aff'd sub nom. KXIV, Inc. v. FCC, 704 F.2d 1294 (D.C. Cir. 1983).]  [42:  Contemporary Media, Inc., v. FCC, 214 F.3d 187, 196 (D.C. Cir. 2000).  ]  [43:  47 CFR § 1.17(a)(2).]  [44:  See Amendment of Section 1.17 of the Commission's Rules Concerning Truthful Statements to the Commission, 18 FCC Rcd at 4017 (stating that the revision to Section 1.17 is intended to “prohibit incorrect statements or omissions that are the result of negligence, as well as an intent to deceive”).] 

Saga argues that Lighthouse made false certifications in the 2001 Permit Application, the License Application, and the STA Request.[footnoteRef:45]  While we herein dismiss Saga’s other claims regarding the 2001 Permit Application, we must consider the allegations that Lighthouse made false certifications in these applications.  This is so because Lighthouse’s character is relevant to our consideration of the 2015 Permit Application and the STA Request.[footnoteRef:46]  For the reasons set forth below, we find that Saga has not raised a substantial and material question of fact related to Lighthouse’s character qualifications.   [45:  Petition at 8 (alleging false environmental certification in 2001 Permit Application and false certification that Station was constructed as authorized in License Application); Informal Objection at 2.  ]  [46:  See, e.g., Lazer Licenses, LLC, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 30 FCC Rcd 6357, 6359 para. 5 (MB 2015) (considering character-related allegations related to earlier application in evaluating later-filed ones); Applications for Consent to Transfer of Control from License Subsidiaries of Allbritton Communications Co. to Sinclair Television Group, Inc., 29 FCC Rcd 9156 (MB 2014) (same);  Apple 107.1, Inc., Memorandum Opinion and Order and Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, 28 FCC Rcd 15722 (MB 2013) (considering allegations of misrepresentation or lack of candor with respect to an earlier application when evaluating a later-filed one).] 

To start, we reject Saga’s assertion that Lighthouse made a false environmental certification in the STA Request.  As discussed above, the temporary facilities proposed therein are excluded both from environmental and historic preservation review.  Lighthouse correctly certified that this exclusion was applicable to its case.  
We next find that Lighthouse did not make a misrepresentation when it certified in the License Application that the Station was constructed as authorized.  Not only was the Station operating with the antenna specified in its construction permit at that time but Lighthouse believed the Station had been constructed at the location specified in that permit.[footnoteRef:47]  Saga has offered no evidence suggesting that Lighthouse intended to deceive the Commission about the location of the Station’s transmitter.  Indeed, it would be hard to demonstrate such intent when, as Lighthouse notes, the location at which the Station has been operating—and from which it proposes to continue to operate—“meets all LPFM allocation criteria.”[footnoteRef:48]  We further determine Lighthouse did not violate Section 1.17 of the Rules in the context of the License Application because it had a reasonable basis—the representations of its engineering consultant[footnoteRef:49]—for believing that it had constructed the Station at the location specified in the construction permit.   [47:  Opposition to Petition to Revoke at 2 and Attach. A.]  [48:  Id. at 2.]  [49:  Id. at 2 and Attach. A.] 

Finally, we find Saga has not raised a substantial and material question of fact regarding Lighthouse’s certification that the facilities proposed in the 2001 Permit Application were excluded from both environmental and historic preservation review.  Like the 2015 Permit Application, the 2001 Permit Application was excluded from environmental review under Note 1 to Section 1.1306 of the Rules.[footnoteRef:50]  Thus, Lighthouse correctly certified the 2001 Permit Application was exempt from environmental review.  In terms of historic preservation review, at the time Lighthouse filed the 2001 Permit Application, the Collocation Agreement did not apply[footnoteRef:51] and the NPA did not exist.[footnoteRef:52]  Thus, Lighthouse was tasked with evaluating whether the facilities proposed in the 2001 Permit Application might “affect districts, sites, buildings, structures or objects, significant in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering or culture, that are listed, or are eligible for listing, in the National Register of Historic Places.”[footnoteRef:53]  Saga has not alleged that Lighthouse failed to undertake this evaluation.[footnoteRef:54]  Further, as discussed herein, the most recent historic preservation review related to the same location found the Station’s facilities have no adverse effect on properties listed or eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.[footnoteRef:55]  Given this, we find Saga has not raised a substantial and material question regarding the accuracy of Lighthouse’s certification that the facilities proposed in the 2001 Permit Application were excluded from historic preservation review.  This, in turn, means Saga has not raised a substantial and material question regarding whether Lighthouse falsely made this certification or lacked a reasonable basis for making it.  [50:  See, supra, para. 12.  ]  [51:  While the Collocation Agreement was effective in 2001, it did not apply to the 2001 Permit Application.  The Collocation Agreement applies only to “collocations,” which it defines as “the mounting or installation of an antenna on an existing tower, building or structure for the purpose of transmitting and/or receiving radio frequency signals for communications purposes.  Collocation Agreement, I.A. and II.A.  Because Lighthouse constructed the tower on which the Station’s antenna was mounted when it constructed the Station, the installation of the Station’s antenna on the tower could not be considered a “collocation” and thus was outside the provisions of the Collocation Agreement.]  [52:  The NPA—which Saga asserts applied to the 2001 Permit Application and necessitated historic preservation review—was not effective until March 7, 2005.  Reply to Opposition to Petition to Revoke at 2-3.  Nationwide Programmatic Agreement for Review under the National Historic Preservation Act, 70 Fed. Reg. 556 (Jan. 7, 2005).  Further, although, the 2001 Permit Application was pending at the time the NPA was adopted, the NPA applied “prospectively” only.   See also Nationwide Programmatic Agreement Regarding the Section 106 National Historic Preservation Review Process, Report and Order, 20 FCC Rcd 1073, 1133-34 para. 167 (2004) (finding that NPA applied “prospectively” only and noting that applying the NPA “to all pending cases would cause confusion and potentially impose unreasonable burdens on SHPOs/THPOs.”).  ]  [53:  47 CFR § 1.1307(a)(4) (2001).  While the Commission has modified Section 1.1307(a)(4), this portion remains the same today.  47 CFR § 1.1307(a)(4).  ]  [54:  36 CFR § 60.4 (2001).  Indeed, it is worth noting that the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation has stated that ordinarily properties owned by religious institutions “shall not be considered eligible for the National Register.”  National Register Bulletin, How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation https://www.nps.gov/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb15/nrb15_2.htm (last visited Feb. 27, 2017). ]  [55:  See, supra, para. 9.] 

Antenna and TPO Information
Saga asserts that, in the STA Request, Lighthouse should have specified both the antenna being used and the proposed transmitter power output (TPO) but failed to include that information.  However, as Lighthouse notes, the Commission’s Engineering STA form does not require the disclosure of such information.  We decline to require the submission of this additional information.
Consent Decree
  As part of this Order, we are adopting a Consent Decree entered into by the Media Bureau (Bureau) and Lighthouse.  The Consent Decree resolves issues related to Lighthouse’s violation of the law and rules governing underwriting announcements, its construction of the Station at an unauthorized location, and its operation of the Station with an unauthorized two-bay antenna.  The Consent Decree stipulates that Lighthouse violated Sections 301 and 399B of the Act and Sections 73.503(d), 73.845 and 73.875 of the Rules.  For these violations, Lighthouse will pay a civil penalty to the United States Treasury of eight thousand eight hundred dollars ($8,800).  Lighthouse will also implement a three-year compliance plan to avoid future violations of the law and rules governing underwriting announcements.
We conclude that nothing in the record before us creates a substantial or material question of fact whether Lighthouse possesses the basic qualifications to be a Commission licensee.  After reviewing the terms of the Consent Decree, we find that the public interest would be served by its approval and by terminating the Bureau’s investigation of Lighthouse’s violations of the Act and Rules in connection with Saga’s Petition, the Permit Application and the STA Request, subject to the terms of the Consent Decree.  We note that, given Lighthouse’s acknowledgment that it did – as Saga alleges – violate the law and rules governing underwriting announcements, and operate the Station from an unauthorized location and with unauthorized equipment, we grant the Petition in part.  As provided in the Consent Decree,[footnoteRef:56] however, we otherwise deny the Petition.   [56:  See Consent Decree at paras. 8 and 10.] 

Conclusion/Actions  
Section 312(a) permits the Commission to revoke a station’s license or construction permit for, among other things, false statements knowingly made either in the application or in any statement of fact; conditions coming to the attention of the Commission which would warrant it in refusing to grant a license or permit; willful or repeated failure to operate substantially as set forth in the license; and willful or repeated violation of, or willful or repeated failure to observe any provision of the Act or any of the Commission’s rules.  Lighthouse has stipulated that it violated the law and rules governing underwriting announcements, and operated the Station at a variance from its authorized parameters in violation of Section 301 of the Act and Sections 73.845 and 73.875 of the Rules.  However, despite these violations of the Act and the Rules, we do not believe revocation of the Station’s license is appropriate.[footnoteRef:57]  Accordingly, the Petition to Revoke License filed by Saga Communications of New England, LLC, on October 7, 2015, IS GRANTED IN PART, DISMISSED IN PART AND OTHERWISE DENIED. [57:  Indeed, an underwriting violation “typically results in the imposition of a fine or admonishment.”  WQED Pittsburgh, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 15 FCC Rcd 202, 209 para. 12 (1999).  The same is true for the other violations at issue here.  See, e.g., Power Radio Corp., Forfeiture Order, 21 FCC 6940 (EB 2007) (imposing a forfeiture for violation of Section 73.875); Enforcement Bureau Field Offices List of Notices of Apparent Liability Issued, Public Notice, 18 FCC Rcd 1803 (EB 2003) (noting issuance of a Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture related to violations of, among other things, Section 73.1350, which governs transmission system operation for full service radio stations just as Section 73.875 governs transmission system operation for LPFM stations). We reject Saga’s attempt to analogize this case to United Television Co., 55 FCC 2d 416 (1975) (United Television), and United Broadcasting Co. of Florida, Inc., Decision, 55 FCC 2d 832 (1975) (United Broadcasting).  Reply to Opposition to Petition to Revoke at n.2.  Those cases involved findings of “a flagrant disregard of Commission policy,” “protracted misconduct” and repeated violations over “a prolonged period of time,” which led the Commission to conclude that the licensee’s “past representations were of no value,” “no reliance can be placed on [licensee’s] present promises of future compliance,” and/or there was “little to indicate” that the licensee was “prepared to assume [its] obligation[ ] of responsible supervision.”  United Television, 55 FCC 2d at 422 paras. 11 and 13, and 424-25 para. 16; United Broadcasting, 55 FCC 2d at 837 para. 12, 840 paras 17-18, and 841 para. 20.  We have not and, on the record before us, could not make such findings about Lighthouse and its operation of the Station.] 

In addition, for the reasons set forth above, IT IS ORDERED that the Informal Objection filed by Saga Communications of New England, LLC, on May 11, 2016, IS GRANTED IN PART AND OTHERWISE DENIED.  
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Opposition to Request for Special Temporary Authority filed by Saga Communications of New England, LLC, on November 5, 2015, IS GRANTED IN PART AND OTHERWISE DENIED, AND the request for special temporary authority (BSTA-20151102AHI) filed by Lighthouse Christian Center on November 2, 2015, IS GRANTED.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to Section 4(i) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended,[footnoteRef:58] and by the authority delegated by Sections 0.61 and 0.283 of the Commission’s rules,[footnoteRef:59] the Consent Decree attached hereto IS ADOPTED. [58:  47 U.S.C. §§ 154(i).]  [59:  47 CFR §§ 0.61, 0.283.] 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the investigation by the Media Bureau of the matters noted above IS TERMINATED.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that copies of this Order shall be sent by First Class and Certified Mail, Return Receipt Requested, to Lighthouse Christian Center, 522 Springfield Street, Feeding Hills, MA 01030, its counsel, Matthew H. McCormick, Esq., Fletcher, Heald & Hildreth, P.L.C., 1300 North 17th Street, 11th Floor, Arlington, VA 22209, and counsel for Saga Communications of New England, LLC, Gary S. Smithwick, Smithwick & Belendiuk, P.C., 5028 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 301, Washington, DC 20016.  
						FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION




						Michelle M. Carey
						Chief, Media Bureau
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